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          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Good morning. I'm

          3  Council Member Wendell Foster, Chair of this

          4  Committee, and to my immediate left, Councilwoman

          5  Annette Robinson from Brooklyn, Council Member

          6  Koslowitz from Queens, and Council Member Espada

          7  from the Bronx, and to my immediate right is our

          8  Counsel, Mr. Ira Pers, and our general practotem.

          9                 Those of you who are desirous of

         10  testifying on any bill that's before the Council,

         11  pro or con, the Sergeant will pass you a slip. If

         12  you will just raise your hand, you will pass your

         13  slip and you may sign in in order to testify.

         14                 I repeat, if you are here and want to

         15  testify on any one of the bills, fill out a slip and

         16  we will call you.

         17                 We have been joined by Council Member

         18  Harrison from Queens.

         19                 Today's agenda consists of Intro.

         20  Number 792, by Council Members Espada, Lopez and

         21  Rodriguez, in relation to a street named Big Pun

         22  Place, Borough of the Bronx.

         23                 Intro. 814, by Council Members

         24  Lasher, Nelson and Golden, by request of the

         25  Brooklyn Borough President, also Council Member
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          2  Fisher, in relation to a street named Pat Mazzoli

          3  Way, Borough of Brooklyn.

          4                 Intro. 820, by Council Member Foster,

          5  Carrion, Robles and Abel, also Council Members

          6  Eisland, Lasher and O'Donovan, in relation to a

          7  street name, Reverend Charles Britt Way, Borough of

          8  the Bronx.

          9                 Intro. 869, by Council Member

         10  Harrison and Marshall, also Council Members Dear,

         11  Koslowitz, Leffler, McCaffrey, O'Donovan and Abel,

         12  in relation to a street named Officer Gabriel Vitale

         13  and Officer Anthony J. Abruzzo, Jr., Place, Borough

         14  of Queens.

         15                 Intro. 887, by Council Members Foster

         16  and Carrion; also Council Members O'Donovan, Robles

         17  and Wooten, in relation to a street named Reverend

         18  Ruben Colon Place, Borough of the Bronx.

         19                 Intro. 895, by Council Members

         20  Koslowitz, Marshall and Sabini; also Council Members

         21  Foster, Harrison, Leffler, McCaffrey, O'

         22  Donovan and Abel, in relation to a corner name, Joe

         23  Queen Corner, Borough of Queens.

         24                 Through enactment of these proposed

         25  local laws, we seek to recognize the contributions
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          2  of various New Yorkers to our community.

          3                 Two police officers who gave their

          4  lives to protect the people of our City, Officers

          5  Vitale and Abruzzo and a dedicated feature colonist

          6  for the New York Newsday, Joe Queen, all died at

          7  young ages. We are left to wonder what additional

          8  contributions they could have made to the quality of

          9  life for all of us.

         10                 Reverend Britt and Reverend Colon

         11  played highly effective roles in both the spiritual

         12  and secular lives in New York City.

         13                 Pat Mazzoli was a fixture in the

         14  community life of the Brooklyn neighborhood.

         15                 Finally, Big Pun was a hip-hop rap

         16  artist whose tragic death cut short a growing

         17  musical career.

         18                 We have a lengthy agenda. We will

         19  hear from as many people as we can, but I want to

         20  explain that we are asking you who are going to give

         21  testimony to make it short.

         22                 You don't have to tell us all that

         23  you know about them because our research may reveal

         24  more about them than you can tell us.

         25                 The purpose of our holding these
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          2  hearings is simply to recognize, as we stated,

          3  people who have made contributions. They may not all

          4  have made contributions to your liking, they may not

          5  all have pleased you in the way they lived, but the

          6  people of the community ask that we recognize the

          7  contributions that we've made.

          8                 We will not be removing any existing

          9  street signs. They will remain. We will simply add

         10  an additional sign in recognition of the work that

         11  people did in that community.

         12                 Let us begin now by opening with Mr.

         13  Espada's Intro. 792.

         14                 Mr. Espada, would you please speak on

         15  this?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Thank you so

         17  much. And I believe we've been joined by a community

         18  member that will be giving testimony as well, Mr.

         19  Chairman.

         20                 I wanted to begin prefacing my

         21  comments by saying that some 30 years ago in the

         22  South Bronx, in the district that I represent, one

         23  of the most incredible and influential movements in

         24  this country and really in the world began, then was

         25  called and known to be the rap phenomenon, something
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          2  that would quickly go away, something that we all

          3  learned about and saw the biographies of, through

          4  movies like Beat Street. And today, 30 years later,

          5  in the community that it all began, we look at an

          6  icon that really represented all that was very, very

          7  good about this movement, and Christopher Rios,

          8  otherwise known as Big Pun, and look to be able to

          9  take a small street, Rogers Place, between 163rd and

         10  Westchester Avenue, to be able to not only have his

         11  legacy felt by our community, but also so that I

         12  think a movement that is graduating into bigger and

         13  better things can have an appreciation for its

         14  accomplishments, and all that it has done.

         15                 Was Pig Pun, Christopher Rios, the

         16  perfect citizen? I think if one were to look into

         17  the life of artists in the music industry and other

         18  actors, I think that he probably did lead a close to

         19  perfect life in comparison to the ideals that might

         20  normally be categorized with those type of

         21  individuals.

         22                 But in addition to having that kind

         23  of a lifestyle that children and young people in our

         24  community looked up to, he went a step further in

         25  the St. Lawrence section of the Bronx, over by White
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          2  Plains Road, he established a youth center. He never

          3  sought any funding, he never sought any licensing,

          4  he never sought any special programming, he rented a

          5  store front and began a youth center because he

          6  believed that to be right. He had recreation going

          7  inside for the young people, a place for them to go,

          8  and get away from things and learn about the culture

          9  that meant so much to him.

         10                 Out of his home, his wife and his

         11  mother-in-law were known to feed local hungry

         12  people, the homeless. There are artists now that are

         13  being given the opportunity in the hip-hop movement,

         14  because of the fact that Big Pun gave them a place

         15  to live, gave them a place to eat. I think that he

         16  is a prime example of all the positive that has come

         17  out of this movement. I think if we go too deep into

         18  anyone's life at any given moment, that we would,

         19  I'm sure, get to the point of being able to question

         20  so very much the lyrics of the songs that made him

         21  popular, not the fluff that existed in his albums,

         22  were very community orientated, were very

         23  nationalists of his Puerto Rican views and of his

         24  belief in hip-hop, and for all of those reasons, I

         25  think that Big Puns Place would be a great addition
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          2  to our community.

          3                 And furthermore, I think that, just

          4  kind of in closing, this is a process that begins on

          5  a local level. We will be hearing the testimony from

          6  a young man that collected tens of thousands of

          7  signatures locally to be able to get Pig Pun Street

          8  named on 163rd Street, we've since compromised to a

          9  much smaller street. That movement led to a

         10  community board effort.

         11                 The community board passed its

         12  resolution to name this street after him.

         13                 I believe that in its natural process

         14  this has graduated to the point of us just

         15  continuing forward with our process, to allow Big

         16  Pun to get what the community wants. And in that I

         17  hope that we're able to do that through this

         18  Committee. Thank you so much, Mr. Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Espada.

         21                 Mr. David Bryson, come, please.

         22                 May I suggest again, if you are

         23  desirous to testify on any issues before this

         24  Committee, fill out a form, the Sergeant standing

         25  there will supply you with the same.
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          2                 Identify yourself for the record.

          3                 Now, you're not going to read that

          4  whole book?

          5                 MR. BRYSON: No, sir.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: We don't have

          7  time for the whole book. Thank you very much.

          8                 All right. Speak directly into the

          9  microphone and tell us who you are.

         10                 MR. BRYSON: My name is David Bryson.

         11  I'm here representing the people of the South Bronx

         12  and New York City and humbly asking that you

         13  consider our request to grant Pig Pun his own street

         14  called Big Pun Place.

         15                 And if I could just take one minute,

         16  I left a page of my notes back, at the back. Excuse

         17  me one minute.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: That's not

         19  another library, is it?

         20                 MR. BRYSON: No.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Young fellows,

         22  push the button and tell us who you are.

         23                 You first, on the right.

         24                 MR. SOSA: My name is Melvin Sosa.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Who?
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          2                 MR. SOSA: Melvin Sosa.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 And who are you?

          6                 MR. C. SOSA: My name is Calvin Sosa.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Are you fellows

          8  related?

          9                 All right, sir, begin your testimony.

         10                 MR. BRYSON: Ladies and gentlemen,

         11  it's my honor to be here today. My name is Dahoo

         12  (phonetic), I'm a Bronx resident, and I'm here today

         13  to represent the friends, the family and the fans of

         14  Christopher Rios, who was also known as Big Pun. And

         15  we're here to humbly request that you consider our

         16  petition to rename a small street in the Bronx to

         17  honor this great person.

         18                 Big Pun died over a year ago, and if

         19  I could tell a personal story, it was the same week

         20  that my house was robbed, and God forbid, if you've

         21  ever been robbed out of your home, then you know the

         22  horror involved in that, and how for a few days that

         23  event stays focused in your mind and it's really all

         24  you can think about, how to protect yourself, how to

         25  protect your family. And the week that Big Pun
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          2  passed away my home was robbed, and the burglars

          3  left me with literally only the clothes on my back,

          4  literally. Everything was taken, even unwashed

          5  clothes, every single thing.

          6                 And when I looked back on the

          7  robbery, I remember how I felt. And really, the

          8  robbery was secondary, it was an afterthought,

          9  because Big Pun was dead and my community had lost

         10  one of its true heroes.

         11                 People were walking around in the

         12  streets crying, hundreds of people were lighting

         13  candles and making flower memorials. This huge

         14  outpouring of love happened because Big Pun was so

         15  well loved and respected in the community.

         16                 So, I'm here today representing more

         17  than 7,000 voices who have signed our petition that

         18  we have brought with us. The three of us, along with

         19  a lot of other young kids from the community, for

         20  over a year have been collecting signatures, all

         21  last summer in the hot sun, and these young men

         22  asked for nothing in return, they just wanted to do

         23  something that they believed in and something that

         24  they felt good about.

         25                 So, so far we have over 7,000
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          2  signatures, and we are going to continue collecting

          3  signatures, because we really believe in this.

          4                 Many of those voices who I'm speaking

          5  for today are young people who have never, ever

          6  participated in the political process before.

          7                 This is a very first time doing

          8  anything like this, so I think that should

          9  definitely be commended, and that's just one of the

         10  many positive things that have come out of wanting

         11  to honor this one person. People of all ages, all

         12  races, have signed this petition. Tourists who tour

         13  the Bronx, Europeans on vacation, old people, black

         14  people, white people, Spanish people, Asian people

         15  who barely speak English, because they acknowledge

         16  the contribution to the world that Big Pun made, his

         17  life represents the American dream. He was a poor

         18  kid, a Latin man, considered a minority, and in his

         19  young life he did fall victim to the ways of the

         20  street. He was not perfect. But as he matured, he

         21  made a conscious life choice not to be a burden to

         22  society, not to live a criminal life, but to do good

         23  and to do right.

         24                 So, he began his pursuit to be an

         25  entertainer, and his sister told me that that's all
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          2  he wanted to do. He just wanted to make people

          3  laugh, he wanted to be a comedian. He just wanted to

          4  make a smile. He just wanted to bring a little bit

          5  of joy.

          6

          7  Big Pun was a proud Bronx resident. He loved his

          8  City, he loved the people, he loved the children. He

          9  was so much more than a rapper.

         10                 Three years ago, like the Councilman

         11  explained, Big Pun opened a community center right

         12  here, right in the Bronx, on Westchester Avenue, so

         13  that young people in the neighborhood would have a

         14  place to go, so they could have a place to thrive,

         15  instead of just hanging out on the street.

         16                 And he didn't ask for any assistance

         17  from not-for-profit organizations, he did it out of

         18  his own personal money.

         19                 He wasn't a multi-millionaire, he was

         20  just maybe upper middle class, and he donated huge

         21  chunks, just to open this one store, and it was a

         22  shame because he wanted to continue but the store,

         23  the storefront, the community center had to close,

         24  because when he landlord found out who he was, he

         25  was immediately stereotyped as being a rich rapper,
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          2  and they made the rent so high on the property that

          3  he couldn't even afford it, so he had to give it up.

          4                 His house was like a little community

          5  center. In the summertime he would invite the kids

          6  over, they would come and play.

          7                 They would play in his pool. He was a

          8  man who inspired people. That's why people always

          9  wanted to be around him.

         10                 His first album sold over a million

         11  copies, and with that he made history. He became a

         12  pioneer. He became the first Latin person to ever

         13  sell a million records doing rap music, and when he

         14  achieved this extraordinary achievement, he made a

         15  conscious decision to stay right here in the

         16  community, to stay in the ghetto, to stay in the

         17  Bronx, even though he could have moved to a

         18  luxurious neighborhood, because he wanted to show

         19  people, especially kids, that you can achieve your

         20  goals. He wanted to show that life was about working

         21  hard, supporting your family, and if you do that

         22  then you will be rewarded.

         23                 He wanted to show us in the Bronx,

         24  because sometimes we get very depressed and sad

         25  because we're not rich. There's a lot of poverty
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          2  there. The part of the Bronx that Big Pun and we're

          3  from is Hunts Point, and I've just recently read

          4  articles that say this is the poorest City in the

          5  world. I'm not sure if that's accurate but I've

          6  recently read reports of press saying that Hunt's

          7  Point section of the Bronx is one of the poorest

          8  communities in the country.

          9                 So, he wanted to show us that we can

         10  do it. In the end, his legacy, the legacy he leaves

         11  behind is one of honor, and it's based on courage to

         12  succeed, and that you can achieve great things out

         13  of adverse life situations.

         14                 Big Pun represents a segment of

         15  society that often feels disenfranchised. This

         16  segment of the community is largely comprised of

         17  blacks and Latinos, children, young adults and

         18  teenagers who often feel unrepresented and forgotten

         19  about. And sometimes our culture is viewed as

         20  negative and despicable, and the music that we love

         21  is often called violent and derogatory to women.

         22  Similar to how the music of Elvis Presley or the

         23  Beetles was scourned many years ago. But the music

         24  that we love is not about hatred or violence or

         25  being derogatory to women, our music is about the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            18

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  American dream. Our music has provided countless

          3  blacks and Latinos the chance to be entrepreneurs

          4  and successful business men.

          5                 Hip-hop music and rap music is about

          6  growing up in the ghetto, turning your life around,

          7  providing for your family and being a role model.

          8                 It's not about being derogatory to

          9  women, it's about loving women and all people. It's

         10  about having enough money to take care of our

         11  mothers and our wives and our children, it's a way

         12  out of the streets and into the arms of corporate

         13  America. So, it does hurt, when the music, which is

         14  meant to make you laugh and smile makes you think

         15  otherwise, because that's not the intent.

         16                 It hurts that some people might think

         17  that Big Pun might not be worthy because he was a

         18  rapper. So, we are here today to humbly ask that you

         19  please do not stereotype us, but that you embrace us

         20  and that you extend to us an olive branch to the

         21  young people in the Bronx and help us with our

         22  street renaming.

         23                 We would like to feel appreciated,

         24  loved and accepted.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Do you have the

          3  copies of the petitions with you?

          4                 MR. BRYSON: Yes, sir, we do.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Would you give

          6  them to the sergeant, please?

          7                 MR. BRYSON: Certainly.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Sergeant, will

          9  you receive those? You say you have over 7,000?

         10                 MR. BRYSON: Yes, sir.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right, thank

         12  you.

         13                 Which one of you young men will speak

         14  first? You? Tell us your name again.

         15                 MR. C. SOSA: Hello. My name is Calvin

         16  Sosa. I am here to talk about Christopher Rios, also

         17  known as the late Big Pun.

         18                 As you all know, Christopher Rios was

         19  a music artist. His words have touched everyone of

         20  all ages.

         21                 Christopher Levy also was a father of

         22  three children. He was always determined into doing

         23  things and never stopped trying. That is why we have

         24  not stopped into getting the street renamed.

         25                 He was a gifted person as well. On
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          2  Thanksgiving he would shop for turkeys and donate

          3  it. Christmas he would donate toys to charity. That

          4  is a true leader and we should bless him with a

          5  street.

          6                 He never cared about money. He cared

          7  about his family and even people he didn't know.

          8  That is a true hero, and there are much people

          9  around like that. That's why he should have his own

         10  street. The street is going to be dedicated to

         11  heroes like him who struggled very hard.

         12                 Today in the newspaper I read that

         13  Big Pun's lyrics were unappropriate but his lyrics

         14  talk about real life issues happening in life. Big

         15  Pun's story of his life is one of a kind. He grew up

         16  being poor and had to struggle for the stuff he

         17  needed. He provided comfort for the people around

         18  him. No one was ever scared to talk to Big Pun.

         19                 He even visited shelters to comfort

         20  kids. In the summer he would ride around the whole

         21  Bronx in his scooter waving to people.

         22                 My mother let me come here today

         23  because she thinks I am doing the right thing, and

         24  she agrees in the street renaming. Before I used to

         25  be in the street and I never used to listen to my
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          2  mother. Big Pun educated me into staying in school

          3  and respect my mother.

          4                 We will always remember Pun as a man

          5  with dignity, courage and respect. Big Pun showed

          6  much love toward people. He made friends quickly.

          7  That's why when he died, it was like the whole Bronx

          8  went to his funeral. If he was alive, you would be

          9  able to see how nice he was.

         10                 My mother let me miss school to show

         11  everyone that I am not a quitter. We have worked

         12  hard for one year. Not only us, the communities have

         13  worked hard also into getting this street. The

         14  street will be dedicated to heroes who work hard and

         15  to getting what they wanted and struggled to get it.

         16  If we get this street, we will be very pleased and

         17  excited.

         18                 It can be a national landmark so

         19  people all around the world can come see. A person

         20  cannot be ignored for all the goals he's done in

         21  life. If we don't get this street, we will not give

         22  up. We will continue to mourn him no matter what.

         23  That's how much people loved him.

         24                 The name Big Pun will never be

         25  forgotten in people's minds. The name Big Pun
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          2  inspired me and many other people. It probably means

          3  whatever you do there is always a consequence. If

          4  you get in trouble, you will be punished.

          5                 The name will be in my head for the

          6  rest of my life. I hope we get the street renamed.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: May I say you

          9  read well, and real fast. Do you have a plane to

         10  catch, or a train to catch? Are you flying somewhere

         11  shortly?

         12                 Okay, you do quite well. Thank you

         13  very much.

         14                 All right, would you identify

         15  yourself?

         16                 MR. BRYSON: Before he begins, I'd

         17  just like to say that this is our fourth

         18  presentation. We gave two presentations to Community

         19  Board No. 2, one presentation to a great Councilman,

         20  and our presentations have been different all the

         21  time. We usually have a lot of people with us, a lot

         22  of people want to speak, but our last presentation,

         23  they told us that they only wanted a few people. So,

         24  we weren't sure how to come today.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Excuse me.
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          2                 MR. BRYSON: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I have heard you,

          4  now I want to hear him.

          5                 MR. BRYSON: Okay. Yes, sir.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right? I

          7  don't mean to be unkind, but we do have a heavy

          8  agenda.

          9                 MR. SOSA: Hello. My name is Marvin

         10  Sosa.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Do you know this

         12  fellow over here?

         13                 Do you know him?

         14                 MR. SOSA: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: How well do you

         16  know him?

         17                 MR. SOSA: A lot.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: He's okay with

         19  you?

         20                 MR. SOSA: At times.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: At times, okay.

         22                 Begin your testimony, please.

         23                 MR. SOSA: Christopher Rios was a well

         24  respected man for the things he did.

         25                 He contributed to the people by
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          2  opening people's minds and realizing the real world.

          3                 He used to give gifts to the

          4  homeless. He made me better myself, because I always

          5  used to be in trouble and would always be in the

          6  streets.

          7                 He taught me to respect myself and be

          8  confident. Now I spend my weekend helping my mother.

          9                 I think we should have Big Pun

         10  because then we will have at least something of his

         11  memory, because people come and go but streets

         12  don't. We are not only doing this for ourselves, we

         13  are doing this for his fans, and want the avenue.

         14                 My mother let me out of schools

         15  because she thinks I'm doing the right thing.

         16  Everybody is concerned about his lyrics, but they do

         17  not know how he contributed to the community. He

         18  made me feel how I want to feel. Every time I used

         19  to see him, I used to say hi, and he had time to

         20  stop and talk to me.

         21                 When he died, thousands of people

         22  gathered up to see him. I was one of them. Big Pun

         23  was like an idle for me and for thousands of others.

         24                 I looked up to him because he talked

         25  about life and also talked about cause and effect,
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          2  that when you do something, this is how it's going

          3  to affect you.

          4                 He did so much for the homeless, he

          5  used to be homeless himself. He struggled for

          6  everything he had, and that is what bothered me the

          7  most, how he made people feel.

          8                 I think he inspired me in his music

          9  because he always talked about what life was really

         10  about.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 Thank all three of you.

         15                 Sir, you said awhile ago, that people

         16  are involved politically now that were never

         17  involved before. How did you mean that? What did he

         18  do, or what are you doing, or the followers of Big

         19  Pun to involve people in civic activity?

         20                 MR. BRYSON: Well, I mean, for

         21  example, these two men right here, they have -- when

         22  I say that this is a movement that inspired people

         23  to take part in the political process for the first

         24  time, I'm talking about ten-year-old kids,

         25  eight-year-old kids, out on the street, signing
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          2  people's petitions, saying excuse me, sir, would you

          3  like to sign a petition? And then the follow-up to

          4  that is they come to me, they've spoken to the

          5  Councilman's Office, you know, how do we get this,

          6  how do we do this? What's the process? What's

          7  involved? So, they're participating and they're

          8  getting involved and they're wanting to do something

          9  and I think that's very commendable.

         10                 We've had about 20, 25, maybe even 30

         11  young people that have sacrificed time and energy

         12  just for this cause. It's not easy to collect 7,000

         13  signatures, and, really, there is more than 7,000,

         14  that's just a rough number.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: These are

         16  collected by you and the youth there?

         17                 MR. BRYSON: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Among people that

         19  live in that area; is that right?

         20                 MR. BRYSON: Primarily people that

         21  live in the area, but also the petition that

         22  circulated over the Internet. So, we've have a few

         23  hundred signatures that way, the petition has been

         24  taken to --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: How many came
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          2  around the street that you are --

          3                 MR. BRYSON: Six-thousand.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Six-thousand came

          5  from --

          6                 MR. BRYSON: Six-thousand. So, about

          7  1,000 others came from -- we sent the petitions out

          8  to other states, so people from other states sent

          9  them back. Six-thousand from the community, yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right. Now,

         11  you are going to leave this with us?

         12                 MR. BRYSON: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right.

         14                 This is, Council Members, there are

         15  7,000 -- you say 7,000 or more in here; is that

         16  right?

         17                 MR. BRYSON: Approximately, yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Now,

         19  approximately lower or approximately higher?

         20                 MR. BRYSON: Around 7,000.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Around 7,000.

         22                 MR. BRYSON: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right. Let's

         24  put it this way. There are a number of petitions in

         25  here, and any Council member can look at them. We
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          2  are going to keep this, and we are going to examine

          3  them later to, not that we question what you're

          4  saying.

          5                 MR. BRYSON: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Now, you

          7  mentioned the he funded a youth center, and later

          8  had to close it because the landlord jacked the rent

          9  up. How many young people participated? Did you ever

         10  attend that youth center?

         11                 MR. SOSA: I attended it like three

         12  times. Because then they had to close.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Then it had to

         14  close.

         15                 What about you, young fellow?

         16                 MR. C. SOSA: I went with my brother.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: You went with

         18  your brother?

         19                 He's the leader of the clan, your

         20  brother? All right, thank you.

         21                 How many young people do you estimate

         22  visited that center during a week's time when it was

         23  open?

         24                 MR. BRYSON: I would say maybe 100

         25  kids. That's based on the riding on the bus, seeing
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          2  in the window, how many people. And he talked about

          3  it on TV a lot, so it was popular.

          4                 And if I may just say one thing to

          5  the Committee, you see only three people here

          6  because this is not a movement that is being funded

          7  or thought of by his direct family, but just people

          8  in the neighborhood.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Does his family

         10  approve of this?

         11                 MR. BRYSON: His family apologizes for

         12  not being here today, but they definitely would like

         13  to humbly ask --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: In other words,

         15  they approve of it?

         16                 MR. BRYSON: They love the idea, and

         17  they have attended other meetings with us but they

         18  were just unable to make this one.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I yield to my

         20  Council Members. Any questions or comments from any

         21  of our Council members on this?

         22                 All right, Council Member Robinson,

         23  from Brooklyn.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Hi. Good

         25  morning.
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          2                 I just want to commend Council Member

          3  Espada, and for you being here today. Of course, I

          4  was saying to some of my colleagues, you know, those

          5  in our generation, that of course have criticized

          6  the lyrics of rappers, but we also acknowledge that

          7  in looking at Council Member Espada, who is one of

          8  the younger members of the Council, that this is his

          9  generation. And we can understand and appreciate and

         10  I thank him for bringing it to our attention,

         11  because sometimes we are not always up on all the

         12  issues in regards to what is happening in the rap

         13  industry, but certainly you have brought to light to

         14  us today some details regarding Big Pun that we were

         15  certainly unaware of and we certainly thank you for

         16  your presence here today.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you,

         18  Councilwoman.

         19                 Any questions?

         20                 How long was the center open?

         21                 MR. BRYSON: About a year.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: About a year.

         23                 And what did the children do when

         24  they went there?

         25                 MR. BRYSON: There was video games,
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          2  TVs, people there to talk to.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: It was mainly a

          4  storefront to keep the kids off the street; is that

          5  it?

          6                 MR. BRYSON: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 We've been joined by Council Member

         10  Povman, from Queens, and Council Member Linares from

         11  Manhattan.

         12                 Thank you very much. You may be

         13  excused.

         14                 MR. BRYSON: Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: We will vote on

         16  this later.

         17                 At this time we're going to entertain

         18  -- I am going to call on the people from 887. We

         19  are naming a place after the Reverend Ruben Colon.

         20                 Reverend Colon was the first Puerto

         21  Rican Chaplain in the New York City Police

         22  Department. And if anyone were to ask what did I do

         23  down here in these years that I take pride in most,

         24  I would say in asking Mayor Koch and Commissioner

         25  Ward to appoint Reverend Colon as a Chaplain.
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          2                 I speak of him now as a friend for

          3  more than 30 years, as a neighbor for more than 30

          4  years, as a man that was committed in every way to

          5  everybody. You didn't see him when a policeman was

          6  shot, because the Mayor was always out front. But

          7  whenever anything happened to a police person in the

          8  City, 24 hours a day he was there. He was also a

          9  Chaplain at the Veterans Hospital, and I could not

         10  understand how he had so much energy to get around

         11  and do so many things.

         12                 His death was a shock to most of us

         13  because he had been nursing his wife who had been

         14  suffering for a number of years with an illness, and

         15  from New York to Puerto Rico to Florida he went

         16  trying to find help for her.

         17                 One day he developed a serious

         18  headache, aspirins didn't stop it, Tylenol, all

         19  these other things did not prevent it, and when they

         20  took him to the hospital they discovered that it was

         21  a brain tumor and it was too late, and he died still

         22  trying to help his wife and help others.

         23                 I mention this because he was a

         24  personal friend, a committed person. He was a man

         25  for all the people, a man for all seasons, and some
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          2  of his parishioners are here now, former

          3  parishioners. I will call first his successor, the

          4  Reverend Franklin Simpson, and Ramona Colon, is she

          5  here?

          6                 Oh, excuse me, please. We stand

          7  adjourned for one minute.

          8                 His family was my family and

          9  vice-versa. I attended their wedding anniversary.

         10                 Council Member Robinson has to be

         11  excused, but she would like for you who are here and

         12  our Committee to know that her vote is yes on all

         13  items.

         14                 Reverend Simpson, my new neighbor.

         15  They could not have chosen a finer person to succeed

         16  Reverend Colon, and then his wife. I didn't know you

         17  were here from Puerto Rico. How are things on the

         18  island?

         19                 Still nice down there?

         20                 MS. SIMPSON: I came yesterday, last

         21  night, I arrived to John F. Kennedy to be here with

         22  all of you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         24                 MS. SIMPSON: I appreciate it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Reverend Simpson,
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          2  why don't we hear from her first and then you, is

          3  that all right?

          4                 REVEREND SIMPSON: Yes, I will be

          5  short and straight to the point.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right, then

          7  you go ahead.

          8                 REVEREND SIMPSON: I represent in the

          9  metropolitan New York Senate Evangelical Lutheran

         10  Church in America. I want to testify in favor of

         11  brother Ruben Dario Colon, that he was a pastor,

         12  that he dedicated his life in that community for 40

         13  years. He served to the community and to the local

         14  police. He was a Chaplain, he was a graduate from

         15  Adelphi University. That is the time and place that

         16  I meet him, but we both were studying at Adelphi

         17  University.

         18                 He worked like a Councilman, to the

         19  police, to the community, and they do a very nice

         20  job, and I am the person that I succeed him there,

         21  and I try to walk in his steps.

         22                 Every time when I go different

         23  places, and I even, when I mentioned the name for

         24  him to the police when I stop and I say, oh, I am

         25  the one to succeed, Brother Colon, you can go.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            35

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2                 So, that kind of a name only helped

          3  me to move around in the area.

          4                 Thank you very much.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right. Thank

          7  you.

          8                 Mrs. Colon, just introduce yourself,

          9  please, and begin your testimony.

         10                 MS. COLON: Good morning, ladies and

         11  gentlemen. I'm Ramona Orabona Colon, widow. And I'm

         12  married to a wonderful man, a person who was always

         13  loved, care to our City, and through people who

         14  needed help, all kind of help, he never said no. He

         15  always says yes. That was Ruben Colon, and that I'm

         16  married for 52 years.

         17                 You an hear me well?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I can hear you

         19  well.

         20                 MS. COLON: Okay. Ruben received a

         21  master from Lutheran Theological Seminary in

         22  Pennsylvania, but that was not only his dream, he

         23  wants to do more. And then he got MSW from Fordham

         24  University and became a psychotherapist also. And

         25  there he was, one university to another, opened the
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          2  doors for the church to serve the needed, to serve

          3  the people in New York City, and Ruben never rested,

          4  never. When he was called in that time, there was a

          5  baby that was dying, Ruben was there. He baptized

          6  that baby. He never say no.

          7                 When there was someone who needed

          8  food, he brought them to my house, we would serve

          9  food to those people. And also, he said in his

         10  words, not only food, we have to provide jobs for

         11  these people.

         12                 And then he started to organize the

         13  Puerto Rican Development Project. The Puerto Rican

         14  Development Project you all know well, right? It has

         15  a program, developed program of many things that

         16  people need, like education, social work, whatever,

         17  his organization was there to help them. Many of

         18  them are lawyers today. Many, many are lawyers. And

         19  I go to Puerto Rico, I just came yesterday from

         20  Puerto Rico, and I met a lawyer there, he says your

         21  husband gave me the equivalence diploma in the

         22  Puerto Rican Development Project, and I said that

         23  was nice, and I've been receiving so many letters

         24  from every where, people who said that Ruben will

         25  live in their hearts all his life.
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          2                 He says many of you today knew him,

          3  and it was an honor to meet such a great man.

          4                 Okay, another thing, he was at

          5  Columbia University, a scholarship program. He was

          6  part of the Board there. And also, you know Hostos

          7  Community College? He also helped organize that, and

          8  he was a member of the Board, too.

          9                 Morrisania Hospital, Anti-Poverty

         10  Program, and New York City Police Chaplain. He was

         11  the first Spanish Chaplain, and he organized one,

         12  but he doesn't incorporate it. He was also a

         13  Chaplain to the honorary Chaplain to the Fire

         14  Department of New York City, and he organized the

         15  Little Bomberitos to teach the kids not to play with

         16  fire, and someone donated a shirt that said

         17  Bomberitos, but there was, I think he had

         18  disappeared because many people didn't follow after

         19  Ruben, that he wanted to keep that Bomberitos,

         20  Incorporated working, living.

         21                 Okay, and he was, like he says, New

         22  York City Police Chaplain, Veterans Hospital, Board

         23  member of the Planning Board, Community No. 4. My

         24  husband, sometimes we didn't have a chance to see

         25  each other. But when we see each other, we were very
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          2  happy.

          3                 So, Ruben admired a lot for everyone.

          4  I think the City, the whole City knew him. I

          5  remember when we were invited to banquet, he had the

          6  prayer, the opening prayer, everybody came to him

          7  and said, oh, he's just like Mayor, he says I own

          8  the City. He was always very happy. He was always

          9  very happy.

         10                 So, I'd like to mention also, the

         11  last 52 years I will be married, and I married to an

         12  excellent Christian honest person who was loved by

         13  anyone who met him. I'm happy today for his

         14  happiness, of me and him together. Reverend Colon

         15  was born to serve and died in peace with the Lord.

         16                 Thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you, Mrs.

         18  Colon. May I thank you publicly for having included

         19  me and my family as a part of your family.

         20                 We were present for your wedding

         21  anniversary, we were present for the baptism of your

         22  children, the marriage of your children, and you've

         23  always been there --

         24                 MS. COLON: Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: When we needed
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          2  you.

          3                 MS. COLON: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Reverend Colon

          5  marched with us down Grand Concourse when Miss

          6  Eleanor Bumpers was murdered, when 16 policemen went

          7  into the room and shot her with a double barrel

          8  shotgun. He marched with us when we fought for the

          9  protection of children. He marched with us when we

         10  asked the New York Times and the others to help us

         11  denounce the slaying -- it wasn't a slaying, they

         12  said the Bronx was burning. It was a ghetto

         13  community. He was instrumental in helping us get the

         14  City to reverse itself instead of giving the people

         15  that burn their buildings down, the full insurance,

         16  he was one of those that helped us draw something so

         17  that the City would collect their money first.

         18                 Thank you very much.

         19                 Mr. Caballero. Ms. Caballero, and Mr.

         20  Rojas. All right, thank you. These two from

         21  Resurrection.

         22                 Now, anyone here -- who else is here

         23  from Resurrection Church? All right, thank you.

         24                 Now, all of you don't have to

         25  testify, but what I want you to do, if you did not
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          2  fill out a form, is come to the microphone later and

          3  say that you are for this or you are against it.

          4  Before you begin, I am going to ask our Counsel,

          5  would he be kind enough to read the correspondence

          6  from the Bishop.

          7                 MR. PERS: In the season of our Lord's

          8  resurrection on May 4th, 2000, the Reverend Ruben

          9  Dario Colon, Sr. entered eternal life. He retired

         10  from active ministry in October of 1999, and was

         11  diagnosed with a lymphatic cancer in November.

         12                 Pastor Colon was a well-known and

         13  familiar face in Metropolitan New York Sinai,

         14  through is many years of ministry in the Bronx and

         15  through his commitment to the community.

         16                 Ruben Dario Colon was born on May

         17  15th, 1923, in Rio Grande, Puerto Rico, to Tite and

         18  Vidal Colon. He attended the University and Seminary

         19  in Rio Piedras. He married Ramona Orabona of

         20  Santurce, Puerto Rico on September 7th, 1947 in New

         21  York City. They were blessed with four children,

         22  Reverend Ruben, Jr., Miriam, who died in 1979,

         23  Damaris Colon - Corchado, and Levi. He moved to

         24  Florida with his wife following his retirement. He

         25  is survived by his wife, three children, seven
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          2  grandchildren, a sister Lydia and a brother, Elijah.

          3  He was ordained into the ministry in December of

          4  1950, at Mariners Baptist Temple and served as a

          5  Chaplain to the New York Port Society and its

          6  Mariners Church from 1950 to 1957. During that time

          7  he also served Spanish Calvary Baptist Church. He

          8  was received from the United Synod of New York and

          9  New England in 1959 and called to serve the

         10  Evangelical Lutheran Church of the Resurrection

         11  under the sponsorship of the Board of American

         12  Missions. After occupying temporary facilities in

         13  several locations, in 1968 Resurrection found a home

         14  in the Bronx where Pastor Colon lived and served

         15  until his retirement.

         16                 In the 1960s he served as the

         17  organizer of the Puerto Rican Community Development

         18  Project, Inc., the nation's largest anti-poverty

         19  program for Puerto Ricans and Hispanics.

         20                 He did additional study receiving a

         21  BA from Adelphi University in Sociology and MDiv

         22  from the Lutheran Theological Seminary at

         23  Philadelphia both in 1977.

         24                 In 1980 he earned a Master of Social

         25  Work from Fordham University in family and

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            42

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  individual microsystems. He did clinical work at the

          3  Bronx Psychiatric Center and at Covenant House and

          4  post-graduate studies at Behavior Therapy Institute,

          5  Long Island University and Creedmore Psychiatric

          6  Center. He was active in many community

          7  organizations and boards.

          8                 In 1968 Pastor Colon served the New

          9  York City Police Department as a Chaplain Inspector.

         10  He was the recipient of numerous honors and awards,

         11  including the Silver Medal of the Academic Society

         12  of Arts, Science and Literature of France. He was

         13  scheduled to be honored for 50 years of ordained

         14  ministry at Synod Assembly June 15.

         15                 His body was returned to Puerto Rico

         16  for a funeral and burial. A memorial service will be

         17  held at 3:00 p.m. on Sunday, June 4, at Resurrection

         18  Lutheran Church in the Bronx.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Ms. Caballero,

         20  would you identify yourself for the record and begin

         21  your testimony?

         22                 MS. CABALLERO: My name is Goyita

         23  Caballero.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Pull the

         25  microphone close, please. When I come to your church
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          2  you speak a little louder than that.

          3                 MS. CABALLERO: My name is Goyita

          4  Caballero, and I'm a member of Resurrection Lutheran

          5  Church since 1971. I know Pastor Colon all these

          6  years as a very dedicated man to the call of the

          7  Lord. He did his job very, very proud, and he was

          8  satisfied with what he was doing.

          9                 He lived what he ministered always.

         10                 As part of a church Council member, I

         11  worked very close to him and I was the treasurer and

         12  I sit on the treasury of the church, I was very

         13  close to him.

         14                 He married Ramonita Orabona of

         15  Santurce Puerto Rico on September 7, 1947 in New

         16  York City. They were blessed with four children. The

         17  Reverend Ruben, Jr., Miriam, Damaris and Levi. He

         18  moved to Florida after his retirement. He is

         19  survived by his wife Ramonita, three children, seven

         20  grandchildren, a sister Lydia, and a brother Elijah.

         21                 In the 1960s, he served as the

         22  organizer of the Puerto Rican Community Development

         23  Project, the nation's largest anti-poverty program

         24  for Puerto Ricans and Hispanics.

         25                 He was active in many community
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          2  organizations and boards. In 1980 he earned a Master

          3  of Social Work from Fordham University in family and

          4  individual microsystems. He did clinical work at the

          5  Bronx Psychiatric Center. From 1989, Pastor Colon

          6  served the New York City Police Department as the

          7  Chaplain Inspector. He was the recipient of numerous

          8  honors and awards, including the Silver Medal of the

          9  Academic Society of Arts, Science and Literature of

         10  France.

         11                 In this day, May 2nd, 2001, we are

         12  very proud to tell the word in simple words, who was

         13  Reverend Ruben Dario Colon?

         14                 Thank you, dear Pastor, for your

         15  love, your Ministry and your loyalty to the Lord.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 Sir, would you identify yourself for

         19  the record.

         20                 MR. ROJAS: My name is Ralph Rojas,

         21  and I'm a retired New York City Police Officer.

         22                 As a member of Ressurection Lutheran

         23  Church, I can tell you that the work of Reverend

         24  Colon was not just in the Bronx, it was felt

         25  throughout the entire City of New York, and today
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          2  there are many who are in other states who have been

          3  touched, and not just a light tap. I mean, their

          4  lives have been completely changed from what they

          5  were while they were in the bowels of the Bronx.

          6  Today they are fine, upstanding citizens, and all

          7  producing and helping others to also continue the

          8  work of Reverend Colon.

          9                 As a Chaplain in the Police

         10  Department, unless you've been there, you don't know

         11  the importance and the need and now a Chaplain

         12  touches all the way down to the little guy who has

         13  the foot post, because he is the one who deals with

         14  our public. His many hours, and he always turned out

         15  the troops. He would go to the different precincts

         16  all over the City. Whenever the roster was being

         17  called, he was there, and he addressed them. He took

         18  time out, spent time with them.

         19                 He went out with many men out on

         20  their posts and got involved and knew what was

         21  actually the situation, or we call in the Police

         22  Department, conditions on that post. It is very

         23  difficult to find someone who will put the same

         24  amount of time and energy that Reverend Colon did.

         25                 I also would like to add, all the
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          2  marches of Reverend Colon, he also marched with

          3  Martin Luther King.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 MR. ROJAS: Let's not leave that out.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          8  much for your testimony.

          9                 All right, now, I'm going to ask if

         10  there are other members here that would just like to

         11  go on record as saying that you agree or disagree

         12  with this testimony. You may be excused. While I

         13  have no other persons signed up to testify, I would

         14  like for those who are here, did anyone else sign

         15  in? You did sign? What's your name?

         16                 MS. TORRES: Aixa Torres.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Would you come,

         18  please, and take a seat? Thank you.

         19                 Ms. Torres, we had you with a

         20  minister, but the wrong one. Would you identify

         21  yourself and begin your testimony?

         22                 MS. TORRES: Yes.

         23                 My name is Aixa O. Torres, and I am a

         24  member of the Resurrection.

         25                 I wrote something very short.
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          2                 It is with humility, respect and love

          3  that I write --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Well, now, if you

          5  can't do it, would you like for us to read --

          6                 MS. TORRES: No, no. I want to just do

          7  this, I should have cried when I wrote it.

          8                 Anyway, it is with h humility,

          9  respect and love that I write this testament on the

         10  Reverend Ruben Dario Colon, who was my personal

         11  pastor spiritually, but also a mentor and a leader

         12  in our community, in our Puerto Rican community in

         13  the City. Reverend Colon was on every committee that

         14  founded all of our respectable agencies of which

         15  many Latinos and the Puerto Rican community made

         16  gains as American citizens in this city. I have

         17  personally been a recipient of this work. He

         18  believed in serving the Lord first by giving back to

         19  our community some of the knowledge and help that

         20  the Lord had given you.

         21                 Reverend Colon knew that one had to

         22  be true to his Lord first and serve his sheep. He

         23  gave that example, stood for respect, and was proud

         24  of our heritage. He acknowledged and supported and

         25  recognizes all those things of our culture that are
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          2  wonderful and positive. The negative things he tried

          3  to improve by being an example to us of how to do it

          4  right. His list of accomplishments is historical in

          5  that many times he was the first Puerto Rican and

          6  Latino to hold a position or develop an agency.

          7                 Reverend Colon was steadfast in his

          8  commitment to our Lord and community and never in my

          9  lifetime did I see him waiver from it. The naming of

         10  the street in honor of Reverend Colon is a testament

         11  to the Lord first because those that trust in the

         12  Lord he will never forsake them and second, the

         13  ministry that he left continues to serve the Lord,

         14  but also the community.

         15                 Sincerely --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 All right, you may be excused.

         19                 MS. TORRES: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: You may be

         21  excused. We are going to vote shortly.

         22                 Anyone else here -- you don't have to

         23  make a speech, just stand, tell us your name and

         24  whether you are for this or not.

         25                 Anyone else from Resurrection who
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          2  would like to go on record as saying you are

          3  supporting this?

          4                 Just come to the microphone quickly

          5  and say that you are for it.

          6                 MS. GAVALA: Good morning. God bless

          7  you. My name is Oriva Gavala. I have been a member

          8  of the Lutheran Church of Resurrection at 1205

          9  Willow Crest for 15 years. My former Pastor Reverend

         10  Dario Colon was born on the beautiful Island of

         11  Puerto Rico. He emigrated to New York City in the

         12  fifties. In 1958 he became a pastor of the

         13  Resurrection Church, and spent most of his life 40

         14  years serving the community of Woody Crest.

         15                 The Reverend Colon loved people,

         16  loved this country, and loved this City. He was a

         17  Chaplain for the New York Police Department.

         18                 Our congregation wants to express our

         19  sincere gratitude to the City for bestowing this

         20  honor to our beloved former pastor.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 May I ask that all the people that

         25  are in favor of this bill for Reverend Colon, just
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          2  stand up.

          3                 Reverend Simpson, do me the favor of

          4  counting these people so it will go on record.

          5                 I wonder why the New York Times did

          6  not cover this one as they did the other one.

          7                 Thank you very much. Be seated. We

          8  shall vote shortly.

          9                 Council Member Harrison, would you

         10  like to say something?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: I would be

         12  very happy to, and thank you very kindly for giving

         13  us the opportunity to speak.

         14                 Last November I received a

         15  communication from our community board in Queens,

         16  Queens Board No. 7, asking that we give recognition

         17  to the lives of two officers who had served the

         18  109th Police Precinct to the utmost. They had given

         19  their lives in 1980, 1981, and apparently the

         20  membership of the community board felt enough time

         21  had passed. The workers in the 109th, the officers

         22  who serve our community, have been doing an

         23  exemplary job, and it was deemed necessary and

         24  appropriate that two officers, Gabriel Vitale and

         25  Anthony J. Abruzzo, Jr., received recognition from
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          2  the Station itself and from the City for the work

          3  that they had done, for the sacrifices they had made

          4  and for the fact that they had been murdered in the

          5  line of duty.

          6                 On December 24th in 1980, Police

          7  Officer Vitale and his partner, police officer James

          8  Smith, received an assignment of a burglary alarm in

          9  a florist shop in the neighborhood, they found two

         10  men they considered to be suspicious in their

         11  behavior and when the officers tried to question

         12  them, the two men fled, each one going in a

         13  different direction.

         14                 Police Officer Vitale chased and

         15  caught the one fellow at gunpoint, then he was

         16  concerned about his partner's safety. He holstered

         17  his weapon and the man he had pulled over, had

         18  caught, took a 45 caliber handgun out of his

         19  clothing and shot Police Officer Vitale twice. The

         20  police officer was rushed to the hospital, he

         21  underwent surgery, but he didn't make it. Her

         22  perished as a result of these shots.

         23                 On December 16, a year later, Joseph

         24  Maran, the father-in-law of Police Officer Anthony

         25  Abruzzo, was followed to his home by three men who
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          2  announced they were going to rob him. Police Officer

          3  Abruzzo was inside the house and he learned, he

          4  heard, he saw there was something going on outside

          5  and he came to help his father-in-law. Trying to,

          6  you know, calm the situation or save his

          7  father-in-law or chase the culprits away, Crime

          8  Officer Abruzzo announced that he was a police

          9  officer. The three men opened fire, shot him in the

         10  chest and he was taken to the hospital where he died

         11  from his wounds.

         12                 I must say that the Flushing area I

         13  serve is very well protected to the ultimate degree

         14  capable of a station which doesn't have sufficient

         15  manpower to do the job that it has to cover, and we

         16  appreciate the sacrifices that our officers make in

         17  defending our community.

         18                 We feel that the community board was

         19  absolutely on target when it asked for us to

         20  introduce a sign, also known as sign rider, to the

         21  east side of Union Street where the stationhouse

         22  stands, between 37th and 38th Avenue, and we ask

         23  that the sign read Officer Gabriel Vitale and

         24  Officer Anthony J. Abruzzo, Jr. Place. We feel it's

         25  very appropriate and I heartily endorse the request

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            53

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  of the community board, and the stationhouse and the

          3  Deputy Inspector James Waters, who is represented

          4  here today by Captain Robert Unkerzagt, and I

          5  commend this mightily to your attention, okay? Thank

          6  you.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOSLOWITZ: I'm happy

          8  that you could pronounce it. I was sitting here

          9  looking at it.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: I don't

         11  know, I come from a German background. Unkerzagt, to

         12  me the Captain.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOSLOWITZ: Okay. I'd

         14  like to call on the Captain.

         15                 CAPTAIN UNKERZAGT: I'm especially

         16  known as Captain U.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Oh, is that

         18  what it is?

         19                 CAPTAIN UNKERZAGT: It makes life a

         20  lot easier for everybody.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Well, how do

         22  you say it?

         23                 CAPTAIN UNKERZAGT: Un-ker-zagt.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Okay. All

         25  right.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            54

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2                 CAPTAIN UNKERZAGT: Is this on? Yes,

          3  it is.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Go ahead.

          5                 CAPTAIN UNKERZAGT: Good morning. I'm

          6  Captain Robert Unkerzagt, Executive Officer of 109th

          7  Precinct. I'm here representing Deputy Inspector

          8  James Wardens, the Commanding Officer who

          9  unfortunately had other commitments today and

         10  couldn't make this.

         11                 Personally I didn't know Officer

         12  Gabriel Vitale or Anthony Abruzzo, however, I've

         13  been a member of this Department for 28 years, and

         14  unfortunately, I probably remember almost everybody

         15  that's been killed in the line of duty in this

         16  Police Department.

         17                 About a year ago, in May of 2000,

         18  Deputy Inspector Wardens decided to have a 20 year

         19  commemorative memorial service for Officers Vitale

         20  and Abruzzo. As part of the 109th Precinct, I've

         21  been there approximately 15 months, I attended it.

         22  It was also attended by members of the Police

         23  Department, community, religious leaders, there were

         24  short testimonies, there was a memorial service by

         25  one of your religious leaders, and afterwards there
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          2  was a small celebration.

          3                 During that time I got to meet many

          4  of the people that were involved, his families, his

          5  friends, his loved ones. Out of that, two things

          6  really struck my mind afterwards, which continue to

          7  stay with me today: the fact that it was 20 years

          8  later and we had a service, they were very, very

          9  grateful for it. I guess in an instance like this

         10  you never necessarily bring to closure people that

         11  you lose. They were tremendously grateful for it,

         12  but even more important than that, that really stuck

         13  on my mind, maybe because of my age and what I had

         14  been through with the war and that, that they were

         15  grateful that we didn't forget who these people

         16  were.

         17                 I mean, these were two police

         18  officers who I consider fallen heroes, they died

         19  doing what we do, but something I've never, 20 years

         20  I've been doing this, I never gave much thought to

         21  that, I have never gone out into the street and said

         22  I may die today, and I've worked in the best and the

         23  worst neighborhoods in this City, I've worked in

         24  five of the six boroughs. That thought continually,

         25  everybody I talked to had that same continual
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          2  thought, we fear that you won't remember who these

          3  people are.

          4                 I think the resolution of this bill

          5  would go a long way towards preventing that from

          6  happening. Just the fact that they would post this,

          7  would rename a street would forever, in my opinion,

          8  keep it, not just the thought to it, keep in the

          9  minds and our heart of fallen heroes. You know, in

         10  this case it happens to be the Police Department, it

         11  could be other law enforcement agencies, but

         12  particularly, again, like I said, since I am a

         13  member of this, I think that there is many things we

         14  can or can't do, but just the posting of this sign

         15  for people like me that do know, that have been

         16  around, for people that come in, for people in a

         17  community, we should never forget the people that do

         18  the job for us. In this case they paid the ultimate

         19  price, they lost their lives, and I think for that

         20  alone, that this resolution should pass, and I thank

         21  you for the time to make my comments.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOSLOWITZ: Thank you.

         23  And we certainly agree with you.

         24                 Now I would like to take the liberty

         25  to introduce my bill. My bill is to name a corner in
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          2  front of the building that houses Newsday, as Joe

          3  Queen Corner.

          4                 Many of you here remember Joe Queen.

          5  I certainly do. Joe Queen was someone that I could

          6  call a friend, someone that I enjoyed meeting and

          7  talking to. Joe had a wonderful sense of humor that

          8  even when he was writing something not so nice about

          9  you, you had to laugh at what he was writing.

         10                 I know that I always looked forward

         11  to reading Joe's column, and I know my colleagues

         12  sitting here from Queens certainly remember Joe and

         13  it is my pleasure, along with the Borough President

         14  of Queens, Clare Shulman, to be able to name a

         15  street corner right in front of Newsday Joe Queen

         16  Corner.

         17                 I would like to call now Alan Queen

         18  to testify.

         19                 MR. QUEEN: Thank you very much,

         20  Councilwoman Koslowitz.

         21                 I am here to speak in support of

         22  Intro. 895, the bill to name the corner of 80th Road

         23  and Kew Gardens Road in memory of my late brother,

         24  Joe Queen.

         25                 As you may know, my brother was a
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          2  reporter and columnist for Newsday for over a

          3  decade. His specialty was covering Queens, a

          4  community where we both grew up and continue to live

          5  in as adults.

          6                 For eight years, until his death, Joe

          7  had his own column in Newsday, as you alluded to,

          8  which focused on Queens.

          9                 In fact, he was the only columnist

         10  for a major daily in New York City who wrote a

         11  column exclusively about Queens.

         12                 Joey used his column to call

         13  attention to all the wonderful people in our

         14  neighborhoods, as well as to fight to improve things

         15  for us all, whether it was battling to prevent the

         16  removal of fire alarm call boxes, or drawing

         17  attention to the waste of tens of millions of

         18  dollars at JFK Airport, or covering local

         19  government, Joe was well known as an honest, fair

         20  reporter and a fighter for the people of our City.

         21                 In fact, he was honored with two

         22  Pulitzer Prizes as part of award winning reporting

         23  teams at Newsday for the Union Square subway crash

         24  and the Flight 800 disaster.

         25                 Despite his love of hard news, Joe
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          2  was particularly interested in telling the stories

          3  of the many interesting individuals who make up our

          4  borough, which is why he loved writing his column so

          5  much.

          6                 He was most happy when a humorous

          7  story in one of his columns brought a smile to a

          8  reader's face. I have been truly surprised by how

          9  many people my brother touched in his lifetime. To

         10  this day, over four years after his untimely death

         11  at the age of 33, many people tell me stories about

         12  my brother, how he helped them with their

         13  neighborhood, how they were touched by a

         14  particularly poignant story he wrote in his articles

         15  and columns, or how he made them aware of things

         16  they needed to know about the place we all call

         17  home.

         18                 I am surprised that so many people,

         19  even those who only read his work in the paper,

         20  thought that they knew him personally.

         21                 The fact that my brother touched so

         22  many lives in such a positive way I feel is a

         23  testament to both Joey's talent and to the fact that

         24  he truly cared about people.

         25                 I think that renaming a street corner
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          2  in our home borough would be a great memorial for my

          3  brother.

          4                 The corner of 80th Road and Kew

          5  Gardens Road is an especially fitting location. It

          6  is near both the center of Queens government, which

          7  was a particular focus of his work, and the offices

          8  of Newsday. It is also only a few blocks from an

          9  apartment where my brother lived for a number of

         10  happy years, at Lefferts Boulevard and Metropolitan

         11  Avenue.

         12                 I think this would be a wonderful

         13  memorial for someone who cared deeply about our

         14  community and worked very hard to improve our City.

         15                 I would like to thank the Council

         16  Members who sponsored this bill, especially Karen

         17  Koslowitz, and all of you on the Committee for the

         18  opportunity to be here today.

         19                 I'd also like to thank Queens Borough

         20  President Clare Shulman, Community Board 9 and

         21  Newsday for their support.

         22                 I urge you all to vote in favor of

         23  this proposal. Thank you very much for your time.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Queen.
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          2                 We have two other witnesses, if you

          3  would come up.

          4                 Is it Barry --

          5                 MR. GRODENCHIK: Grodenchik.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Grodenchik. And

          7  Nate Moore.

          8                 Gentlemen, identify yourselves for

          9  the record and begin your testimony.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 While you are being seated, we are

         12  going to have a roll call on these items, because

         13  Mr. Fisher, like Mrs. Robinson, has another

         14  appointment.

         15                 Let me say before you vote, because I

         16  want to say this to some of the members, all of

         17  them. I excused myself awhile ago because the press

         18  was so interested, and I want my members to hear

         19  this, so interested in talking about Big Pun, that

         20  it did not interest them to know that we were able

         21  to honor the first Puerto Rican police Chaplain, a

         22  man who spent so many years at the Veterans

         23  Hospital, working with people, police, et cetera,

         24  that was not of interest to them, they were only

         25  interested in the fact that a man was a rapper, and
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          2  he used some bad language.

          3                 Well, I wondered why, I wonder why

          4  Mr. Queen is not being covered by the press the way

          5  the Times covered this Big Pun? Why Reverend Colon

          6  and all the others are not being covered? Two

          7  policemen were killed, but they were not interested

          8  in that. They were only interested in Big Pun. It

          9  shows to me, it shows something is sick with the

         10  press. If they cannot take time to honor two

         11  policemen that gave their all to this City, a police

         12  Chaplain for more than 30 years, Chaplain for the

         13  Veteran Administration who gave to this country, a

         14  navy son who was a Navy Chaplain and another son who

         15  was a policeman, but that was no interest to them.

         16  It shows something is wrong, the way I see it.

         17  Because we don't say very much about these violent

         18  movies and these soap operas every day. I pass

         19  people and I see them. We know people have sex, but

         20  they don't have to do it at 12:00 during the day on

         21  television, and yet that's never criticized. It's

         22  simply headlined in the news because people in the

         23  entertainment business are supposed to be able to

         24  get away with anything. I'm not criticizing, I'm

         25  just concerned with the fact that you gentlemen are
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          2  here to honor a person that made a contribution.

          3  Positive. And they're not interested in you. And he

          4  was in their field, in the media.

          5                 I'm sorry to have preached to you, I

          6  do that on Sundays.

          7                 MR. PERS: It's all right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Call the roll,

          9  please.

         10                 MR. PERS: It's an occupational

         11  hazard.

         12                 First Intro. 895, which is one of the

         13  items before you, is amended to read Joseph W. Queen

         14  Corner. There will be a roll call on Intro. 814,

         15  820, 869, 887 and 895, all coupled.

         16                 Foster.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I think I, I vote

         18  aye on all.

         19                 And especially, let me say this about

         20  Big Pun --

         21                 MR. PERS: Which is being laid over.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: It's being laid

         23  over?

         24                 MR. PERS: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Oh, I understand

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            64

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  Big Pun is being laid over?

          3                 MR. PERS: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right. I

          5  understand Big Pun bill has been laid over, I guess

          6  the press and someone else got to those in charge.

          7                 But I vote aye on all that are before

          8  us this morning.

          9                 MR. PERS: Povman.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER POVMAN: Aye on all.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Fisher.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: Mr. Chairman,

         13  I just wanted to thank you for calling the roll, and

         14  I apologize to my colleagues and the witnesses. You

         15  may have read the New York Times today, Con Ed is

         16  planning on putting up the most polluting power

         17  plant in the state and it happens to be in my

         18  district and I'm on my way back there now.

         19                 I vote aye on all of the items.

         20                 MR. PERS: Linares.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Yes.

         22                 MR. PERS: Provenzano.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Yes.

         24                 MR. PERS: Mr. Chairman, you are

         25  keeping the roll open, I understand?

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            65

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Yes, for Ms.

          3  Robinson.

          4                 MR. PERS: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right.

          6                 Would you identify yourselves,

          7  gentlemen, after my little lecture, and tell us why

          8  we should do that. Tell me whether I was wrong or

          9  right. He should be honored, shouldn't he? All

         10  right, who is going to be first? I also thank you.

         11                 MR. MOORE: Thank you.

         12                 Good morning. My name is Nate Moore.

         13  I'm here representing Newsday, and I must say to

         14  you, Mr. Foster, that your words are quite difficult

         15  to follow here representing the media, and I

         16  certainly understand your concern. I can assure you

         17  that Newsday does not look at news and what's

         18  important that way, and that's why I'm here this

         19  morning.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 MR. MOORE: I've come to urge you to

         23  support Bill 895 for Joseph W. Queen Corner. I must

         24  say you to unfortunately that I didn't know Joe

         25  Queen. I started at Newsday just after unfortunately
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          2  he had passed. I did read his column, though, so I

          3  knew him quite well.

          4                 I must also say, as the Public

          5  Affairs Manager for Newsday in Queens, my job really

          6  is to cover the borough for Newsday. I am sort of

          7  the public face of Newsday throughout the Borough.

          8                 I can say to you, obviously I'm

          9  deviating from my notes here because I'm speaking

         10  from my heart, I can say to you that no matter where

         11  I went, people knew Joe Queen, they would ask about

         12  him. Many of them did not know that he had passed.

         13  They wanted to know how he was. Please give him my

         14  best regards, we love him, we miss him, when you see

         15  him, please tell him not to forget Laurelton, not to

         16  forget Long Island City, not to forget Flushing, not

         17  to forget Kew Gardens or Forest Hills, please have

         18  him come back and see us.

         19                 So, he was a very powerful man and

         20  was much loved.

         21                 I will also say to you that the

         22  corner that we are asking that you name in his honor

         23  is a corner that I can see from my window at

         24  Newsday. I work at the office at 8002 Kew Gardens

         25  Road, and I must say to you, I was thinking about
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          2  this yesterday after speaking with Alan, his

          3  brother, and knowing that I would come here

          4  representing Newsday this morning, I was looking out

          5  of my window and I was watching all of the people

          6  who walked past that corner. They were all colors,

          7  they were all sizes and shapes and ages and it was

          8  just so representative of who he was. He was

          9  fiercely protective of those people. He gave many

         10  people who did not have voices a voice, he was just

         11  an extraordinary man, and I urge you to support this

         12  bill.

         13                 I would also say to you that it

         14  becomes very important to us that Newsday,

         15  considering that the name change would happen just

         16  outside our building, to have this memorial to him

         17  for all of us to see every day that we come to the

         18  office. This is respectfully submitted.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         20  much, sir.

         21                 Would you identify yourself for the

         22  record?

         23                 MR. GRODENCHIK: My name is Barry

         24  Grodenchik, and I thank you, Councilman Foster and

         25  all the members of this Committee.
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          2                 I'm here today on behalf of Borough

          3  President Claire Shulman and the 2.2 million

          4  residents of Queens County to urge your favorable

          5  consideration with regard to Intro. No. 895, which

          6  would designate the Southwest Corner of 80th Road

          7  and Kew Gardens Road Joe Queen Corner.

          8                 Four years ago, when cancer claimed

          9  Joe's life at age 33, it extinguished one of the

         10  brightest lights that Queens had ever produced. A

         11  son of Queens, Joe covered Queens for Newsday as

         12  only a home grown person could. He was part of a

         13  team that won a Pulitzer prize for reporting on a

         14  subway accident, in many respects Joe owned Queens

         15  County, especially its airports.

         16                 His stories regarding reconstruction

         17  at both Kennedy and LaGuardia Airports not only

         18  broke important new ground, but they also made the

         19  airports more responsive to their users, providing

         20  an important service that we continue to reap to

         21  this day.

         22                 As a journalist and a human being he

         23  understood the power of the mass media to help

         24  ordinary people in their daily struggles. Joe's

         25  columns frequently highlighted these struggles and

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            69

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  often helped to bring resolution to matters that had

          3  otherwise gone unnoticed.

          4                 There was another side of Joe that

          5  only the people who had the honor of knowing him

          6  understand, that he was a raconteur of the first

          7  order who delighted in looking at the funny side of

          8  life, always finding humor where others couldn't. He

          9  understood what too many do not, we shouldn't take

         10  ourselves too seriously. With this attitude, he

         11  displayed wisdom well beyond his years.

         12                 Joe also was an avid softball player

         13  who frequently graced the Borough Hall team with

         14  this fleetness of foot. And the Borough President

         15  recalled yesterday, even though we don't like to

         16  admit it too often, it's entirely possible that we

         17  have not won a game since his passing.

         18                 This was not only attributable to his

         19  skill, but also the passion he displayed every

         20  single day of his life.

         21                 In closing, I would again like to

         22  state our support for this remembrance of Joe. He

         23  was a Queens' kid, one of millions that our great

         24  borough has produced.

         25                 In a few short years working with his
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          2  God-given talents and zest for life he helped

          3  through his work many persons and left this world a

          4  better place than he found it.

          5                 I would also like to add, I was a

          6  personal friend of Joe's. I knew him for 16 years. I

          7  went to school with his brother, the dentist, who is

          8  sitting with us this morning.

          9                 Joe was a very sweet guy, he almost

         10  didn't have an ego. He was only concerned about

         11  helping people and making Queens and all of New York

         12  City a better place than he found it. And I thank

         13  you for your consideration of this bill.

         14                 Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 You may be excused.

         18                 No other witnesses?

         19                 MR. PERS: No, sir.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: All right, thank

         21  you.

         22                 The next one is Intro. Number 820,

         23  Charles Britt.

         24                 Alonia Lessington, and Minister

         25  Hawkins. Would you please come? Please wait and
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          2  sign, Council members.

          3                 All right, would you begin? Identify

          4  yourself, Ms. Lessington.

          5                 MS. LSSINGTON: Yes. My name is Alonia

          6  Lessington, and I'm here representing Greater Zion

          7  Baptist Church, and on behalf of Greater Zion, I

          8  would like to thank the Chair and the Committee for

          9  honoring us with this chance to have a portion of

         10  Findlay Avenue, from East 168th Street to East 170th

         11  Street, changed to honor Reverend Charles Britt.

         12                 We agree to have this change. We vote

         13  on it. And we would appreciate it if it was done.

         14                 Reverend Britt was a kind man. He was

         15  a patient man. He loved the community in which he

         16  ministered to. He knew his congregation well, and he

         17  loved his congregation, and we, in turn, loved him.

         18  And this would be just a small chance to show the

         19  congregation and the Charter members that are left

         20  how much we really appreciated him.

         21                 I could go on and tell you so much

         22  about Reverend Britt, but I'm going to turn you over

         23  to a young man who grew up in the Church and

         24  Reverend Britt knew him as a child into a young man

         25  and he knew Reverend Britt.
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          2                 I give you Minister Sterling Hawkins.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          4                 Good morning.

          5                 MINISTER HAWKINS: Good morning,

          6  Council members.

          7                 This is a great day of my life, not

          8  only my life but all of those who Reverend Charles

          9  Britt has touched through the years.

         10                 Reverend Britt was not just your

         11  average local pastor, as Councilman Foster knew that

         12  himself. He was known nationwide for the acts of

         13  kindness he so frequently performed for mankind.

         14  Without question he stood as a spiritual giant for

         15  over 30 years in the Greater New York and vicinity

         16  area. It was a cold and lonely day in 1991 when

         17  Reverend Charles Britt passed away, but I can say

         18  today that I thank the Lord and I thank you all for

         19  making this day one of the greatest days in my life.

         20                 I really would appreciate it if you

         21  would consider this in the renaming of the Findlay

         22  Avenue section to the Reverend Charles Britt Way.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you both

         25  very much. You may be excused.
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          2                 All right, Intro. Number 814. Those

          3  persons here to testify on -- introduced by Council

          4  Member Lasher. I know you are here, is anyone else

          5  here for 814? Come, please, and sit at the table.

          6  814.

          7                 Sergeant, get me another chair,

          8  please. All right, Council Member Lasher's office.

          9                 MR. DIAMOND: Yes. Good morning, Mr.

         10  Chairman, and members of the Committee. My name is

         11  Stewart Diamond, and I am the Legislative Counsel to

         12  Council Member Howard Lasher, of the 47th District

         13  in the Gravesend, Bensonhurst sections of Brooklyn.

         14                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         15  testify this morning in support of Intro. 814, of

         16  which Council Member Lasher is one of the prime

         17  sponsors.

         18                 Intro. 814 calls for the naming of

         19  Avenue U, between Van Sicklen Street and West 5th

         20  Street, in the Gravesend section of Brooklyn, as Pat

         21  Mazzoli Way.

         22                 It is an honor for Council Member

         23  Lasher to introduce this street naming legislation,

         24  which pays tribute to Pasquale "Pat" Mazzoli, former

         25  owner of Gravesend's famous Mazzoli coffee business,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            74

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS, RECREATION, CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  a mainstay of the community for more than 70 years.

          3                 His legacy is carried on by his

          4  family, especially his two sons, Larry, who

          5  continues the family coffee business, and Peter, who

          6  runs the Gravesend Banner Company. Both continue the

          7  tradition of community service initiated by their

          8  father.

          9                 Pat Mazzoli was an extraordinary

         10  humanitarian who devoted his life to the needs of

         11  his community. Mr. Mazzoli was a business leader

         12  whose community service and noteworthy contributions

         13  greatly benefitted the neighborhoods of Gravesend

         14  and Bensonhurst.

         15                 Others will testify after me as to

         16  the many civic activities Mr. Mazzoli was involved

         17  with, and to his numerous accomplishments on behalf

         18  of the community.

         19                 Suffice it to say that Pat Mazzoli

         20  was known to all as Mr. Gravesend.

         21                 On behalf of Council Member Lasher, I

         22  am here today to attest to the worthiness and

         23  appropriateness of naming Avenue U, between Van

         24  Sicklen Street and West 5th Street as Pat Mazzoli

         25  Way.
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          2                 On behalf of Council Member Lasher, I

          3  respectfully urge this Committee's favorable

          4  consideration and action of this Intro.

          5                 Thank you for your time and

          6  consideration.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you for

          8  coming in and being patient with us, sir.

          9                 Identify yourself for the record. We

         10  will just go down the line and come back over here.

         11                 MR. SAMUELS: Yes. Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chairman. My name is Warren Samuels, I'm the past

         13  Lieutenant Governor of the Brooklyn Division of

         14  Kiwanis International.

         15                 Not to go over what the Council

         16  Member's aid said, by personal recollection of Mr.

         17  Mazzoli, or Pat, we have in Jewish religion, we say

         18  this name, he was a "mench." He was a person that

         19  you could call upon at any time or any hour or

         20  anything to just do something and help us. If it be

         21  monetarily with his physical work or anything else,

         22  he was there for us, for the community, not only

         23  Gravesend, but all of Brooklyn and all of New York.

         24  He loved the City, he loved Brooklyn, he loved

         25  Gravesend.
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          2                 Mr. Mazzoli was involved with me

          3  personally, and when I was president of the 61st

          4  Precinct Council he was there. You will hear other

          5  people talking from other organizations, but these

          6  are just some of the few.

          7                 Again, thank you so much for your

          8  time and efforts.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         10  much. Sir, would you identify yourself?

         11                 MR. POWSNER: My name is Louis W.

         12  Powsner. I'm the First Vice President of the

         13  Bensonhurst West End Community Council.

         14                 Our Chairman, Mr. Carmine Santamaria,

         15  is not able to mount the stairs at the subway near

         16  his house, nor the stairs here at City Hall, so he

         17  asked me to present his testimony, and I've

         18  distributed copies before him.

         19                 Carmine includes a copy of a column

         20  that he writes for the Kings Courier Syndicate, the

         21  Brooklyn Graphic Newspaper, et cetera, and he talks

         22  about the generous Pat Mazzoli, the man who was the

         23  first in his community to support the endorsement of

         24  the community as Lady Moody Square.

         25                 Lady Moody was one of the earliest
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          2  founders in the United States of America of the

          3  Gravesend community, and working in conjunction with

          4  Eric Iarati, they have created a museum of the Lady

          5  Moody Community in the local public school 95, which

          6  is the district headquarters, just around the corner

          7  from Pat Mazzoli's famous coffee shop.

          8                 Not only was it a coffee shop, when a

          9  person walked halfway down his block, you could

         10  smell that it was a coffee shop. It was aromatic,

         11  and not only that, but UPS was constantly bringing

         12  in coffee machines from all over the world that

         13  didn't work, and Pat had magic fingers and was able

         14  to fix them and send them back out with the same

         15  UPS.

         16                 In addition to that, I'd like to

         17  speak also as Chairman of the Board of Joint Council

         18  of Kings County Boards of Trade. It's a Council that

         19  represents 31 business districts in the Borough of

         20  Brooklyn and we work in unification with the other

         21  four counties, as well.

         22                 But particularly one thing comes to

         23  mind with the Joint Council.

         24                 Back in 1968, we had somebody from

         25  Con Edison come to our monthly meeting at our local
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          2  Chinese restaurant where he showed slides of how we

          3  could better illuminate our retail stores, and also

          4  he showed us illumination of two business avenues

          5  that were beyond description to us.

          6                 One was Pueblo, Colorado, and the

          7  other was Kansas City, Kansas. Most of these streets

          8  had introduced a new kind of street lighting called

          9  Luca Lox lighting, and our president at that time,

         10  the late Charles Moranti, asked how could we get

         11  those lights for our neighborhood? They said you

         12  can't because it would cost $125 for every lamppost.

         13                 Well, the following month we invited

         14  the Brooklyn engineer of the New York City

         15  Department of Buildings to explain to us if it where

         16  possible for us to raise the funds. He said you'd

         17  have to raise $125 for every lamppost.

         18                 Well, two streets in our Borough

         19  volunteered to raise the money. One was Bay Parkway,

         20  where we were conducting our meeting, the late

         21  Charles Moranti raised the money there; and the

         22  other one was Pat Mazzoli. And then we confronted

         23  the City Administration, at that time Mayor John

         24  Lindsay, demanding that we get these street lights

         25  for our business avenues.
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          2                 Well, the City Department of Street

          3  Lighting decided that they would do one street in

          4  each borough, and for Brooklyn they chose Flatbush

          5  Avenue because Big Kings Plaza was going to come in

          6  there shortly, and they wanted to give them a

          7  present. They already spent $7 million widening the

          8  streets leading to Kings Plaza, and away from Kings

          9  Plaza, but with our persistence we proceeding in

         10  getting both Bay Parkway and Avenue U relighted with

         11  the bright new street lights that we now see on

         12  every street corner in the City of New York. That

         13  same look-alikes lighting that was initiated in the

         14  Borough of Brooklyn and partially because of Pat

         15  Mazzoli's willingness to go store to store. He not

         16  only went store to store but he went from New York

         17  to Valley Forge, Pennsylvania in 1976 to commemorate

         18  the 200th Anniversary of Valley Forge, and the

         19  creation of the United States of America.

         20                 He deserves to have a monument in his

         21  name but at the very least is to call it Pat Mazzoli

         22  Way, in that sector of Brooklyn where he made

         23  famous, and where you can still smell the coffee

         24  even though the store is closed.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: He did want to

          3  make good coffee, right?

          4                 MR. POWSNER: Councilman Foster, this

          5  might be my last time before the City Council, I

          6  think you know me well. I want to thank you and your

          7  Committee personally for all you've done for the

          8  Parks Department in New York.

          9                 I have seen you in action, and it's a

         10  shame that we have to name things after people that

         11  have gone on. I think somewhere along the line a

         12  living memorial, and now I would work for it in your

         13  honor, for all you've done for the parks in New

         14  York. And I personally want to thank you. I've seen

         15  you in action, I've been activist for 33 years, and

         16  I can't thank you enough for all you've done. And I

         17  just can't say enough about you personally. And,

         18  please go on to bigger and better things. Enjoy what

         19  you are going to do, and every time you look out on

         20  a park, I know part of it had a lot to do with you

         21  and I want to thank you so much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: That's very kind

         23  of you.

         24                 MR. POWSNER: Well, it comes from the

         25  heart, believe me.
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          2                 I want to say about Pat, I knew him

          3  well, as an activist, he was like myself, he was

          4  outspoken, and a true tribute to this community. You

          5  could never walk in the store without having a cup

          6  of coffee or a candy or something, but his

          7  involvement in the 61st Precinct auxiliary, I'm an

          8  active member of the Council. My wife said she

          9  married an outgoing guy, every night I go out. But

         10  everything he -- and he was an arbitrator, we would

         11  have heated discussions, and he would always sit

         12  down. There wasn't a thing, like a leaf would fall

         13  off a tree, he was out there. And too much time has

         14  passed that his name is being forgotten. I would

         15  like to see this expedited, not only on behalf of

         16  the community, and the store, but the whole area.

         17  And I would also like to invite you to our Bay Fest,

         18  the 20th. Come down to Sheepshead Bay and enjoy some

         19  of the parks that you and your Committee have

         20  created.

         21                 Good luck, and God bless you, sir.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. You

         23  are very kind. That was very kind of you. Very kind.

         24                 Thank you. We all try to do our best.

         25  Sir, would you identify yourself.
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          2                 MR. BADALAMENTI: My name is Vincent

          3  Badalamenti, and I'm President of the New Utrecht

          4  Avenue Board of Trade in Brooklyn, and I'm also Vice

          5  President of the Joint Council, a business

          6  organization that Lou just mentioned.

          7                 I would like to say, first of all,

          8  that on a personal basis I have known Pat Mazzoli

          9  for over 40 years, and being involved with Boards of

         10  Trades and different things as he was, he was

         11  president along Gravesend Avenue U, we would discuss

         12  certain things.

         13                 Over the years, maybe 200 times I had

         14  the occasion of going into his store, and it seemed

         15  like every time I went, there was somebody, a lady

         16  that was complaining to him about the garbage the

         17  sanitation truck left, or somebody else that said,

         18  Pat, there's a street light, we can't even see. He

         19  said, I'll take care of it, or do it this way, or

         20  someone else that said this, or someone else that

         21  said that, and Pat was there all the time, he was an

         22  extraordinary man.

         23                 I belong to the 62nd Precinct Council

         24  in Bensonhurst Brooklyn, and so did Pat. Pat, along

         25  Avenue U, not too far from where he is, he put up a
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          2  memorial to our veterans from world war 2, and he

          3  put up a whole big memorial with a plaque and

          4  everything that went with it. It cost lots and lots

          5  of money.

          6                 He also put a time capsule in the

          7  ground right there at that memorial that some day,

          8  50, 100 years from now will come up with the

          9  different things that have occurred.

         10                 Pat was a member of the Make a Wish

         11  Foundation, and one of the last things he did, he

         12  brought one of the children from Make a Wish

         13  Foundation that wanted to participate when the Navy

         14  was coming into Brooklyn Harbor. He had that child,

         15  he brought them, he spent a couple of days together,

         16  and the wish of that child was to be there aboard

         17  the ship. Pat made sure he did it. The man was

         18  extraordinary. And to go a step further, what Lou

         19  said about Valley Forge, you have to understand how

         20  Pat got to Valley Forge. He left in 1976 in a

         21  covered wagon in front of his store, a covered wagon

         22  and drove all the way to Valley Forge, he was a

         23  patriot from the word go. Unfortunately, that nice

         24  kind of news never gets any mention.

         25                 I'd like to know in the State of New
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          2  York who went to Valley Forge in a covered wagon. In

          3  the entire State of New York, nobody. But that's

          4  neither here nor there. We're speaking from the

          5  heart, we're speaking for something that this

          6  gentleman has to be remembered, and I would like to

          7  say in your voting yes to something like this here

          8  would be a great honor for you, for me and for

          9  everyone in Brooklyn concerned. Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 MR. POWSNER: I'd like to add that

         13  Vincent has a few more copies of these that we're

         14  going to submit for you to see, the picture of Pat

         15  Mazzoli's coffee shop back in 1936. His dad, Peter

         16  is in the front of the store, for the photograph,

         17  while Pat was climbing up on the shelf putting the

         18  coffee bags away, and down in the front you see Pat

         19  Mazzoli years later in 1997 with his son standing in

         20  front of the same store.

         21                 Cafe Mazzoli was a centerpiece of

         22  that community all along and the heart of the

         23  community went out when we buried poor Pat Mazzoli,

         24  but we'd like his name to live forever in that area,

         25  with your good help.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Yes. Thank you

          3  very much.

          4                 MR. POWSNER: You're welcome.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Your being here

          6  today proves again that New York's filled with

          7  sheroes and heroes. We've heard about heroes today.

          8                 Thank you very much.

          9                 MR. POWSNER: Thank you, and God bless

         10  you all.

         11                 MR. BADALAMENTI: Thanks a lot. Don't

         12  forget parks this year.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I won't. Thank

         14  you. It's very kind what you said. We will not

         15  forget it.

         16                 Just before we close, let me say

         17  again, I appreciate all of you coming here to

         18  testify, I appreciate our members, and as I said

         19  before, we had a good meeting today, and this is the

         20  first time in the 23 years I've been in the Council

         21  that I have ever received or had anyone present over

         22  7,000 names on a petition for a street name change.

         23                 It does not mean that we always agree

         24  with everyone that we name streets after. I remember

         25  the great labor leader according to the labor
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          2  movement, we named a street after him and no one in

          3  this country fought harder to keep minorities,

          4  blacks from being a part of the labor movement than

          5  he did. But that was all right because he was only

          6  discriminating, but now a person's language, that's

          7  different. I just hope the media will zero in on the

          8  positive things, the good things we heard here

          9  today, Reverend Colon and Reverend Britt and Pat

         10  Mazzoli and all these others, the two policemen that

         11  died for the City. We need to lift up and celebrate

         12  people who made and are making positive

         13  contributions to this City and to this nation. I

         14  thank my members for being here and the staff.

         15                 We stand adjourned.

         16                 (The following testimony was read

         17  into the record.)

         18

         19  Written Testimony of:

         20  Carmine Csanta Maria

         21  President

         22  BWECC

         23

         24  Before the City Council on the

         25  renaming of Ave U to Pat Mazzoli Way.
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          2                 On March 24, 2000, I was shocked to

          3  learn that 72-year-old business "Mazzoli Coffee" had

          4  closed and will no longer be a part of Pat Mazzoli's

          5  beloved Avenue U. There must be a "Mazzoli" name on

          6  Avenue U! As the President of Gravesend Chamber of

          7  Commerce, community activist and civic leader for

          8  decades serving the Gravesend and Bensonhurst

          9  communities, as well as the entire Borough, he

         10  surely deserves this fitting tribute. Pat was

         11  important to this Bensonhurst West End Community

         12  Council; we could and would often rely on him. I

         13  have here for you my Big Screecher column that I had

         14  written on Pat after he passed away, which gives a

         15  fraction of his history and tells a few of his many

         16  contributions.

         17                 "'Gravesend Loses Its Pat Mazzoli,

         18  Bensonhurst Loses A Great Leader."

         19                 The President of the Gravesend

         20  Chamber of Commerce and owner of Mazzoli Coffee has

         21  succumbed to cancer after a severe two-year illness.

         22  Our good friend Pat Mazzoli passed away on Sunday,

         23  December 19, at the age of 71.

         24                 I first met Pat when I started the

         25  Big Screecher in 1978, but I really got to know the
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          2  man when I asked him to donate some of his fabulous

          3  renown coffee to the PTA of PS 212 a couple of years

          4  later. Pat, a generous man, was always donating to

          5  community causes and was happy that I asked him. PS

          6  212 was naming the school after Lady Deborah Moody

          7  and was having a celebration after the ceremonies.

          8  It was a perfect blend, Pat Mazzoli famous for his

          9  coffee and his Gravesend historical interests knew

         10  it was good business to provide his coffee for the

         11  collation, especially for an event in honor of the

         12  founder of Gravesend.

         13                 Pat was an icon in the Gravesend

         14  Community, he was totally committed to and enhanced

         15  every organization he was associated with: The

         16  Gravesend Chamber of Commerce, the Gravesend

         17  Community Council, The Gravesend Historical Society,

         18  he was the Brooklyn Coordinator of "The Make A Wish

         19  Foundation," a member of Kiwanis, a close friend of

         20  the Bensonhurst West End Community Council and he

         21  was involved with a slew of other organizations, too

         22  many to name. An astute businessman, he was the Vice

         23  President of the Joint Council of Boards of Trade of

         24  Kings County. He was most famous for his tireless

         25  efforts in promoting historic Gravesend.
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          2                 Born in the Coffee store that his

          3  father Peter, who immigrated from Genoa, Italy

          4  established at 236 Avenue U in May 7, 1937, he never

          5  moved further than a block away from the Mazzoli

          6  Coffee business he inherited from his father and the

          7  neighborhood he loved. During the nation's

          8  bicentennial on June 25, 1976, Pat drove a covered

          9  wagon from Gravesend Ave U to Valley Forge,

         10  Pennsylvania, with his son Larry riding shotgun. Ten

         11  years later he put a time capsule near the Gravesend

         12  Veterans Monument on Avenue U and Van Sicklin St.,

         13  which is to be opened in 2086. The Gravesend

         14  Veterans Monument Pat erected is also a monument to

         15  his undying love for the community. He received

         16  numerous awards and citations from community

         17  organizations and elected officials. He was very

         18  devoted to his wife Anne and their four children and

         19  then, their children. It was amazing that he could

         20  divert so many energies to so many different causes

         21  for the community, as well as fight for the business

         22  community, in which he was a major leader.

         23                 Pat with Eric Ierardi of the

         24  Gravesend Historical Society established the

         25  Gravesend Museum at PS 95 and published literature
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          2  on Gravesend and its founder Lady Deborah Moody. He

          3  was a prime mover in the establishment of the

          4  Shorefront Volunteer Ambulance Service. He

          5  established the MinuteMen on Avenue U, a protective

          6  alliance for the merchants. Pat ran three parades a

          7  year on Avenue U, Columbus Day, Memorial Day and

          8  Labor Day in which he got the community, merchants

          9  and neighborhood school children to participate.

         10                 He was the undisputed leader of the

         11  Gravesend business community on Avenue U. The

         12  Gravesend Chamber of Commerce was established in

         13  1948, but not until Pat Mazzoli took over the

         14  leadership in 1971, did it really become effective.

         15  His motto was to make shopping best on avenue U West

         16  (the West Streets).

         17                 Pat Mazzoli was laid out at the

         18  Cusimano & Russo Funeral Home, West 6th Street and

         19  Ave. T on December 20th and 21st. Borough President

         20  Howard Golden was the first of many dignitaries who

         21  came to pay respect to Pat. His loving wife Anne and

         22  three sons, Peter, Robert, Larry and daughter

         23  Jeanette Giardina, survive him. The Mazzolis have 14

         24  grandchildren and fortunately, Pat lived to see the

         25  birth of his 2-month-old great granddaughter Tatiana
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          2  DiGiovani.

          3                 I hope the new Millennium will bring

          4  forth young leaders to take over the leadership we

          5  so sadly lost with Pat.

          6                 Screech at you next week.

          7                 I sincerely hope that this

          8  subcommittee names the street on Ave. U after Pat

          9  Mazzoli as soon as possible. The Bensonhurst West

         10  End Community Council has asked all our elected

         11  officials to help you get the street named in his

         12  memory. Thank you!

         13                 (Hearing concluded at 11:55 a.m.)

         14

         15
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 2nd day of May 2001.

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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         21

         22

         23

         24                 -----------------------

                              CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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